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Execut ive Summary

隊協作，讓優質基層醫療服務真正融入社區，提升個人健康素養水平和「治未

病」的防患意識，從而減輕醫院以至整體醫療服務壓力。當香港政府和社會各

界愈漸重視基層醫療健康，人人健康的期許指日可俟。
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Execut ive Summary

Executive Summary

	 In view of the ageing population and rising prevalence of chronic 
diseases in Hong Kong, strengthening primary healthcare (PHC) services is 
an effective and fundamental means of alleviating the pressure on hospital 
services and achieving universal health coverage.  A resilient PHC system 
should provide comprehensive, holistic, coherent and multi-disciplinary care 
in the community, in the long run enhancing the public’s ability in disease 
prevention and self-management of health.

2.	 The Bauhinia Foundation Research Centre (the Centre)’s study 
‘Healthcare for All: Why and How?’, published in September 2019, evaluated 
Hong Kong’s PHC services based on the six assessment principles (6-A), 
namely ‘All-embracing care’, ‘Alliance and cross-sectoral collaboration’, ‘Quality 
Assurance’, ‘Accessibility’, ‘Awareness and empowerment’, and ‘Accountability’ 
as the analytical framework.  The study identified barriers to the development as 
well as factors for strengthening Hong Kong’s PHC services.

3.	 The study concluded four pivotal factors for developing PHC services: 
(1) effective collaboration by medical and social sectors; (2) quality PHC service 
team; (3) broad participation in Electronic Health Record Sharing System (eHRSS);  
and (4) high level of self-health awareness.  However, each of these factors  
faced various challenges.

4.	 The Centre’s another study entitled ‘Enhancing Hong Kong primary 
healthcare with additional resources and expanded channels’, published in 
April 2019, revealed that, in 2016/17, the proportion of PHC expenditure in 
Hong Kong (HKD 41.24 billion) in the annual total healthcare expenditure was 
27.5%.  Public PHC spending, while increasing in recent years, still accounted 
for less than 15% of the total public spending on healthcare.  The latest statistics 
showed that in 2017/18, the proportion of PHC expenditure in Hong Kong (HKD 
44.53 billion) in the annual total healthcare expenditure was 28.1% and public 
PHC spending was 14.9% of the total public spending on healthcare.  Given 
the tremendous demand for healthcare services, there are concerns over what 
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measures in place for containing increased public spending on healthcare so that 
our future healthcare system will be sustainable and affordable.

5.	 By adopting the 6-A assessment principles and from the perspective 
of healthcare financing, this study examined the experiences in developing PHC 
services in seven selected places (England, Australia, Singapore, Canada, the 
Netherlands, Israel and Mainland China) and discussed how Hong Kong could 
make reference to their vision, policy directions and initiatives for mapping out 
a service model that suits Hong Kong society.  These seven regions have taken 
forward healthcare reforms by enhancing their PHC systems through a number 
of innovative polices and measures.  Their service quality is deemed to be good 
as reflected in international surveys.  As the challenges that they face are similar 
to the situation in Hong Kong, i.e. an ageing population and the prevalence of 
chronic diseases, their experiences will serve as a good reference for Hong Kong.

6.	 Given that all these have different social contexts, it is not possible 
for Hong Kong to have an exact replication of policies in other regions.  As 
policies are always formulated in accordance with the unique local situation, it is 
difficult to judge the level of people’s health awareness or the adequacy of PHC 
coverage simply by comparing the number of policies in place or the extent of 
services provided.  Thus, quoting differences and similarities of overseas service 
provisions to make a comparative analysis should always be cautious.  The main 
research findings are in the ensuing paragraphs.

Australia, England and Singapore: Promoting PHC network 
for multipartite collaboration
7.	 The Primary Health Networks in Australia, Clinical Commissioning 
Groups in England and Primary Care Network in Singapore have provided very 
useful reference for Hong Kong.  For example, in Australia and England, these 
platforms, by means of service commissioning, distinguish the roles of ‘service 
provider’ and ‘service purchaser’ for healthcare professionals.  In terms of service 
provision, healthcare professionals are the key personnel.  When it comes to 
service procurement, representatives from the regional government and the 
community as well as other PHC team members will play an important role in 
coordination, planning, formulation, financial budgeting, etc.  This sort of PHC 
network would be seen as an effective means to facilitate different sectors to 
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collaborate closely and ensure that PHC services meet local needs.

8.	 In view of the setting up of District Health Centre (DHC) in 2019 
which involved the interests of various parties including district councils, service 
providers and local residents, the Government can consider building a ‘community 
health network’ to transfer the statutory power in budgeting, commissioning 
and procurement to a committee that comprises healthcare professionals, 
NGO representatives and residents, in a bid to draw on their collective wisdom 
and better integrate resources.  Community health network will be structurally 
connected with the specialty and hospital services of the Hospital Authority, with 
the aim of achieving coherence in the system of healthcare services.  In the long 
run, ensuring adequate services to be delivered within a reasonable waiting time 
in the community is the key to changing health-seeking behaviours of the public.

England: Independent quality control agency
9.	 In England, the Care Quality Commission as an independent 
regulator is responsible for formulating statutory procedures on PHC services, 
administrative and management arrangements as well as the system of quality 
assessment.  Given that the private sector takes up a prominent share in Hong 
Kong’s market for PHC services, and the DHC will operate on a public-private 
collaboration model, it will be worthwhile to learn from England’s experience and 
come up with a mechanism to regulate both public and private PHC services.  
With the set-up of DHC in all 18 districts progressively, the Government is urged 
to enhance the functions of Primary Healthcare Office and further establish a 
statutory PHC Authority, which will facilitate independent stewardship of PHC 
services provided by different institutions. 

Australia and Canada: Performance-based financial 
incentives and shortened training time for Family Medicine
10.	 The specialty training of Family Medicine in Canada and the incentive 
programmes in General Practice in Australia are successful policies in healthcare 
manpower planning.  In Canada, a sufficient number of family doctors is 
produced and many medical students are willing to practise in the specialty of 
Family Medicine.  One of the reasons is that the postgraduate level of residency 
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in Family Medicine takes only two years, shorter than the five or six years of other 
specialties.  On the other hand, the incentive programmes in Australia encourage 
general practitioners to work with their local Primary Health Networks and provide 
clinical data on health risks contributing to chronic diseases.  If they meet these 
requirements stipulated by the Australian Government, general practitioners will 
receive an additional incentive payment.

11.	 On the contrary, doctors do not find receiving training related to 
PHC or Family Medicine appealing due to a lack of incentives or resources 
in Hong Kong.  The role of nurses working in the community is recognised 
and highly valued.  However, it is difficult to attract them as the career ladder 
for nursing professionals is by and large hospital-oriented.  The Centre urges 
the Government to provide, in the community, more induction courses and 
continuous learning activities related to PHC, as well as incentivise more doctors 
to receive training in Family Medicine.

12.	 In the long run, the number of doctors or nurses should not be the 
only indicator used for evaluating the scale of PHC services.  Broadening the 
coverage of PHC services and enabling more healthcare professionals to assume 
responsibilities that are commensurate with their qualifications are the key to 
alleviating doctors’ pressure.  Registered nurse practitioners in Canada, for 
example, are given the prescribing authority under certain circumstances.  Thus, 
empowering other healthcare professions is an effective way to consolidate and 
enlarge the pool of resources for PHC services.

Israel: Population-based electronic health records for health 
monitoring
13.	 Enhancing cross-sectoral collaboration and improving manpower 
training are part of the structural reforms.  Widespread use of electronic health 
records (e-health records) helps bringing out the value of the healthcare system.  
All the four Health Maintenance Organisations providing medical services in Israel 
have a system of e-health records that shared with all family doctors.  The Israeli 
Government is also committed to aggregating data on the system with health 
information from hospitals.  The system documents almost every individual’s 
health data that helps bring down costs of health monitoring.  The data collected 
can be used in setting up relevant PHC measurement indicators.  This real-time 
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database is also proved to be effective in improving the quality of service.  With 
more auxiliary healthcare professionals provided, administrative workload and 
pressure can be well-managed, and the ethos of collaboration strengthened.

14.	 The level of participation in and the utilisation of eHRSS in Hong Kong 
have not been satisfactory by far.  In the private sector, two-thirds of private clinics 
are not connected to eHRSS.  This has led to, in essence, a disjuncture between 
public and private health records.  The Centre recommends the Government to 
require both service providers and users in Public-Private Partnership initiatives 
to register for eHRSS.  At the same time, full technical support to private clinics 
for connecting to and uploading information to the system should be provided.  
Healthcare professionals in the public and the private sectors should also share 
patients’ records, subject to patients’ consent, and access or update the records 
as appropriate.

Mainland China and the Netherlands: One family doctor for 
each person and health insurance as a preventive measure
15.	 It may be difficult to quantify the level of health awareness across 
countries and compare directly.  However, some measures can be considered 
as reference indicators.  In Mainland China, patients are encouraged to visit 
the same family doctor and build a stable, continuous relationship with them 
by signing a contract.  The contract, apart from specifying the family doctor, 
designates the municipal or district hospitals to which the patients will be referred 
when in need of specialty services.  On the other hand, in the Netherlands 
almost all residents had been insured before the Dutch Government launched 
the compulsory private insurance scheme in 2006.  Additional voluntary health 
insurance was also commonly seen in the country.

16.	 In Hong Kong, there are usually numerous private clinics in a 
community.  To cope with the fast pace of urban life today, it is not surprising that 
proximity and convenience of services will be top priority while seeking medical 
consultation, and that people often overlook the advantage of continuity of care 
provided by the same family doctor.  As for health insurance, the discussion 
on this issue in the past decades revealed that Hong Kong people had not 
reached a consensus on the idea of making mandatory insurance contributions 
to dedicated healthcare services.  The attitude and health seeking behaviour 
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can only be changed via education.  For example, the Government may step 
up publicity efforts to proactively connect people via the ‘Mobile Health Truck’ 
and provide health assessment, consultation and promotion, which will gradually 
raise health awareness and bridge the community with PHC services.  In the long 
run, the Government should promote healthy lifestyles and the concept of family 
doctor, as well as set the long-term goal of ‘one family doctor for one person’ 
while evaluating the quality of service provided.  The PHC team should also be 
enabled to serve as the gateway for guiding people to seek appropriate PHC 
services they need.

England, the Netherlands and Singapore: Flexible financial 
arrangement for sustainable healthcare services
17.	 The Hong Kong Government is committed to providing comprehensive, 
affordable and quality healthcare services to the public.  However, the healthcare 
system has long been reliant on the public sector, leading to long waiting time 
for services and continual increase in budget allocation to meet the healthcare 
service demand.  From the experiences in England, National Health Service 
providing a wide range of services and funded mainly by tax revenues has 
resulted in huge financial deficit.  On the contrary, the Dutch Government utilises 
mandatory private health insurance to relieve the pressure on public healthcare 
spending, on the condition that a certain out-of-pocket payment is needed in 
order to be protected by healthcare insurance.

18.	 Any single funding source has its drawbacks.  The responsibilities 
for building a sustainable healthcare system should be shared among the 
Government, every individual and the community.  The mixed model of ‘three 
pillars’ in Singapore highlights the concept of collective responsibility.  Its medical 
savings scheme under the Central Provident Fund requires both employers and 
employees to make mandatory contributions to the healthcare savings account, 
and the balance of which can cover dependents’ healthcare expenses.  The 
Singaporean Government also provides tax incentives for those who make 
voluntary contributions.  These relatively flexible arrangements have broadened 
the source of financing and instilled among Singaporeans the idea of taking 
responsibility for one’s own health.







https://qrgo.page.link/ZXg1H
https://qrgo.page.link/ZXg1H
https://www.statistics.gov.hk/pub/B11302682019XXXXB0100.pdf
https://www.statistics.gov.hk/pub/B11302682019XXXXB0100.pdf
http://www.bauhinia.org/assets/document/20190910/Full_Report_20190910_CHT.pdf
http://www.bauhinia.org/assets/document/20190910/Full_Report_20190910_CHT.pdf


http://www.bauhinia.org/assets/document/20190417/Mini_Study_CHT_170419.pdf
https://www.fhb.gov.hk/statistics/download/dha/cn/dha_summary_report_1718.pdf
https://www.fhb.gov.hk/statistics/download/dha/cn/dha_summary_report_1718.pdf
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也與香港相若，因此經驗可供香港借鑑。

9. 惟需留意的是，由於各地社會情況不同，本港難以直接複製其他地

區的政策或制度。例如不少海外政府均會鼓勵甚至資助適齡女性接受乳癌篩

查；香港政府則以發病率及其他流行病學證據，認為暫時不必推行乳癌篩查計

劃。6 這並不代表本港女性的健康意識較其他地區低，亦不應由此斷言本港基

層醫療服務的涵蓋面不及外地廣闊；只是各地政府綜合考慮後的判斷，此為比

較各地服務時須注意之處。 

10. 我們期望結合智經早前發表的兩份研究報告及是次比較研究，能讓公

眾從不同面向，更加全面和深入理解基層醫療健康的概念和演變、香港及全球

其他地方的發展與挑戰，借此探尋實現人人健康之理想路徑。

6　 新聞公報：《立法會十二題：提供乳癌篩查服務》，2018年11月14日，網址：https://www.
info.gov.hk/gia/general/201811/14/P2018111400423.htm [ 於2019年11月登入 ]。

https://www.info.gov.hk/gia/general/201811/14/P2018111400423.htm
https://www.info.gov.hk/gia/general/201811/14/P2018111400423.htm


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/480482/NHS_Constitution_WEB.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/480482/NHS_Constitution_WEB.pdf


E
N

G
L

A
N

D

19

2. 在2019年彭博最健康國家指數（Bloomberg Healthiest Country 

Index）所檢視的169個經濟體中，英國位列第19名。8 英國的NHS於1948年

成立，由英格蘭、蘇格蘭、威爾斯及北愛爾蘭組成，四者設有不同的醫療衞生

制度。四者之中，英格蘭NHS（NHS England）的服務規模最大，聘任150萬

人。9 因此本章將集中討論英格蘭NHS的制度及基層醫療的服務模式，探討香

港可借鑑的政策措施。

3. 英格蘭正面對人口結構的轉變，尤其人口高齡化的趨勢，對醫療體系

帶來諸多挑戰。根據英格蘭國家統計局（Office for National Statistics）資料，

英格蘭2018年約有5,600萬人口10，年齡中位數由2008年的39.0歲升至2018 

年的39.9歲。11 當中65歲及以上長者佔整體人口的比例，預計將由2018年的

18.2%，升至2036年的23.5%。12 此外，約2,600萬人患有至少一種慢性病，

佔整體人口的46.4%。13 醫療需求與日俱增，以預防為主、社區為本的基層醫

療更顯得攸關重要。

8　	 Lee J Miller and Wei Lu, “These Are the World’s Healthiest Nations,” Bloomberg, last edited 
February 24, 2019, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2019-02-24/spain-tops-italy-as-
world-s-healthiest-nation-while-u-s-slips.

9　 	 Billy Palmer and Lucina Rolewicz, “The NHS workforce in numbers,” Nuffield Trust, last edited May 
8, 2019, https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/resource/the-nhs-workforce-in-numbers.

10　 	 2018年英格蘭實際中期人口為55,977,178人。資料來源：“Estimates of the population for the UK,  
England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland,” Office for National Statistics, last edited 
June 26, 2019, https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/ 
populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandand 
northernireland.

11　	 Ibid.

12	 “Estimates of the population for the UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern 
Ireland,” Office for National Statistics, last edited June 26, 2019, https://www.ons.gov.uk/
peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/
populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland; “Population projections 
for regions: Table 1,” Office for National Statistics, last edited April 9, 2019, https://www.ons.
gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/
regionsinenglandtable1. 

13	 “Essential facts, stats and quotes relating to long-term conditions,” Pharmaceutical 
Services Negotiating Committee, accessed October 8, 2019, https://psnc.org.uk/services-
commissioning/essential-facts-stats-and-quotes-relating-to-long-term-conditions/; 
“Estimates of the population for the UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern 
Ireland,” Office for National Statistics, last edited June 26, 2019, https://www.ons.gov.uk/
peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/
populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland.

https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2019-02-24/spain-tops-italy-as-world-s-healthiest-nation-while-u-s-slips
https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2019-02-24/spain-tops-italy-as-world-s-healthiest-nation-while-u-s-slips
https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/resource/the-nhs-workforce-in-numbers
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/regionsinenglandtable1
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/regionsinenglandtable1
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/regionsinenglandtable1
https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/essential-facts-stats-and-quotes-relating-to-long-term-conditions/
https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/essential-facts-stats-and-quotes-relating-to-long-term-conditions/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland


https://www.england.nhs.uk/participation/get-involved/how/primarycare/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/participation/get-involved/how/primarycare/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/480482/NHS_Constitution_WEB.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/480482/NHS_Constitution_WEB.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/480482/NHS_Constitution_WEB.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/primary-care/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/primary-care/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/primary-care/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/gp/
https://www.nhs.uk/choiceintheNHS/Yourchoices/GPchoice/Documents/rcgp_iyp_full_booklet_web_version.pdf
https://www.nhs.uk/choiceintheNHS/Yourchoices/GPchoice/Documents/rcgp_iyp_full_booklet_web_version.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/mental-health/adults/iapt/integrating-mental-health-therapy-into-primary-care/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/mental-health/adults/iapt/integrating-mental-health-therapy-into-primary-care/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/mental-health/adults/iapt/integrating-mental-health-therapy-into-primary-care/


https://www.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/nhs-commissioning-board
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/nhs-commissioning-board
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/primary-medical-care-policy-and-guidance-manual-pgm/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/primary-medical-care-policy-and-guidance-manual-pgm/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/primary-care/primary-care-networks/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/primary-care/primary-care-networks/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/primary-care/primary-care-commissioning/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/primary-care/primary-care-commissioning/
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7. 英格蘭自1990年引入委託制度22，政府向服務提供者購買醫療服務，

從而建構內部市場（internal market）以促進公營服務的效率與發展。23 NHS

的委託工作主要包含四個程序—評估需要、規劃、選購服務，以及監管服務質

素。24

8. NHS委託的工作主要與臨床醫療委託小組（Clinical Commissioning 

Groups，下稱「委託小組」）分擔。在2012年，英國國會通過《健康及社區護理

法案2012》（Health and Social Care Act 2012，下稱「《護理法2012》」）， 

繼而成立委託小組，成為NHS旗下的法定組織。25 在《護理法2012》的法律框

架下，委託小組的職權包括選購特定醫療服務、透過合約管理確保服務質素、

配合NHS的規劃及地區衞生機構的需要等。26

9. 截至2019年4月，英格蘭設有191個委託小組，覆蓋不同地區，平均

服務人口為約25萬人。27 小組由一名普通科醫生擔任主席，其成員包括當區的

普通科醫生、護士、醫院及專科服務顧問（secondary care consultant）、病

人組織代表，以及一名問責官員等。28 此機制旨在增加醫護人員在服務規劃及

22　	 《 國家保健服務及社區護理法1990》（National Health Service and Community Care Act 1990）
授權相關地區部門（local authority departments）委託服務提供者。資料來源：“National Health 
Service and Community Care Act 1990,” legislation.gov.uk, accessed October 4, 2019, http://
www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/19/contents.

23　 	 National Audit Office, “NHS England: a review of the role and costs of clinical commissioning 
groups”, (2018), 11.            

24　	 Lillie Wenzel and Ruth Robertson, “What is commissioning and how is it changing?,” The 
Kings Fund, last edited September 18, 2017, https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/what-
commissioning-and-how-it-changing.

25　 	 英格蘭NHS在2012年進行重大改革，英國國會通過《衞生及社會護理法 2012》（Health and  
Social Care Act 2012），將NHS的內部架構重組及設立新部門。當中包括廢除基層醫療服務信
託（Primary Care Trusts）及衞生策略管理局（Strategic Health Authorities），並成立臨床醫療
委託小組（Clinical Commissioning Groups），旨在讓醫療專員主導衞生服務的委託工作。資料
來源：“The Health and Social Care Act 2012”, Department of Health and Social Care, last edited 
April 30, 2012, https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/138257/A1.-Factsheet-Overview-240412.pdf.

26　	 National Audit Office, “NHS England: a review of the role and costs of clinical commissioning 
groups”, (2018), 17-19.

27　	 “About CCGs,” NHS Clinical Commissioners, accessed March 3, 2020, https://www.nhscc.org/
ccgs/. 

28　 	 “About CCGs,” NHS Clinical Commissioners, accessed March 3, 2020, https://www.nhscc.org/
ccgs/; National Audit Office, “NHS England: a review of the role and costs of clinical commissioning 
groups,” (2018), 15. 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/19/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/19/contents
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/what-commissioning-and-how-it-changing
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委託的參與，並以社區為本，按地區居民需要提供適切的服務。 

10. 委託服務的範疇涵蓋基層、第二及第三層醫療29，基層醫療服務包括

牙科、藥劑、眼科、普通科醫療服務等（見圖一）。30 NHS及委託小組會向服

務提供者招標，服務提供者可來自公營或私營界別。31 

29　	 醫療體系中的第二層及第三層醫療分別包括專科及醫院護理服務。資料來源：食物及衞生
局：《 掌握健康　掌握人生》，2008年3月13日，頁99-100，網址：https://www.fhb.gov.hk/
beStrong/files/consultation/Condochealth_full_chn.pdf [ 於2019年11月登入 ]。

30　	 “The Contracting NHS – can the NHS handle the outsourcing of clinical services?,” Centre of Health 
and Public Interest, last edited March 2015, 8, https://chpi.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/
CHPI-ContractingNHS-Mar-final.pdf;  National Audit Office, “NHS England: a review of the role and 
costs of clinical commissioning groups,” (2018), 16.

31　	 National Audit Office, “NHS England: a review of the role and costs of clinical commissioning 
groups,” (2018), 17.
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已發展國家。65

27. 在2017年，英國衞生開支為1,974億英鎊（約19,839億港元），佔本地

生產總值9.6%，當中公共醫療開支佔整體衞生開支比例為79%。66 基層醫療開

支佔整體醫療開支的比例為25.9%67，較香港28.1%（2017/18年度）為低。68 

28. NHS從保健及社會服務署（Department of Health and Social Care）

獲得撥款，繼而將部分資助分配給委託小組69，以2019/20年度為例，委託小

組的財政預算佔NHS總預算約三分之二。70 針對普通科服務，在2018/19至

2023/24年度間，NHS分配予委託小組的撥款由約77.6億英鎊（約799億港元）

增至預算約96.8億英鎊（約997億港元），增幅約25%；人均分配則由131英鎊

（約1,349港元）升至159英鎊（約1,606港元），增加約21%（見圖四）。71 

65　 	 “Individual income tax rates table,” KPMG, accessed October 23, 2019, https://home.kpmg/xx/
en/home/services/tax/tax-tools-and-resources/tax-rates-online/individual-income-tax-rates-table.
html; “GDP per capita (current US$),” The World Bank, accessed March 5, 2020, https://data.
worldbank.org/indicator/ny.gdp.pcap.cd.

66　 	 “Healthcare expenditure, UK Health Accounts: 2017,” Office for National Statistics, accessed 
October 4, 2019, https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/
healthcaresystem/bulletins/ukhealthaccounts/2017.

67　 	 “Health expenditure and financing,” OECD.Stat, accessed October 29, 2019, https://stats.oecd.
org/Index.aspx?ThemeTreeId=9#. 

68　  有關數字以「非住院護理醫療服務提供單位」（providers of ambulatory health care）及「預防
護理提供單位」（providers of preventive care）開支計算，有關方法可參閱智經《增資源 拓渠
道 強化香港基層醫療健康》研究報告。資料來源：食物及衞生局：《本地醫療衞生總開支賬目
（DHA）》，2018年，頁15，網址：https://www.fhb.gov.hk/statistics/download/dha/cn/dha_
summary_report_1718.pdf [ 於2019年10月登入 ]。

69　 	 NHS England, “Our 2017/18 Annual Report,” (2018), 10.

70　 	 “About CCGs,” NHS Clinical Commissioners, accessed October 11, 2019, https://www.nhscc.
org/ccgs/.

71　 	 “NHS England CCG Allocations 2019/20 to 2023/24 Primary care (medical),” NHS, accessed 
October 2, 2019, 4, 8, 12, 16, 20, https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/
ccg-allocations-2019-20-to-2023-24-primary-care-medical-revised.pdf.
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動，以提高市民健康管理的意識，例如戒煙日、精神健康、糖尿病、認知障礙

症關注週。80 

33. 除上述全國性推廣活動外，NHS在《五年展望》中提出完善服務模式

的其一要素，是提供以人為本的護理與支援，讓市民了解自己的需要，並與醫

護人員一同決定保健的方法，從而讓市民更有能力管理自己的健康。81 英格蘭 

NHS基於上述宗旨，推行一系列病人自我管理計劃，包括「實踐價值計劃」

（Realising the Value）及「病人自強計劃」（Patient Activation）。「實踐價

值計劃」與多個非政府組織合作，包括關注長期病患者、衞生政策研究、社區

護理等機構，為長期病患者提供自我健康管理的教育課程、同伴支援及社區活

動。82 

34. 此外，NHS亦注重上述服務成效，故透過「病人自強計劃」的衡量

工具（Patient Activation Measure，下稱「PAM」），評估病人健康管理的知

識、技能及信心，並按病人表現分為四個級別。83 

35. 提升健康意識，對病人（尤其是長期病患者）管理自己的病情，十分

重要。舉例，伊斯林頓（Islington）的委託小組收集逾9,000份PAM病人回應

後，發現擁有良好意識的病人（PAM級別四），使用急症服務的機會較意識不

足的病人（PAM級別一）低32%。84 故提升市民健康意識，亦能引導市民到社

80　 	 “Calendar of national campaigns 2018 to 2019 table,” NHS Employers, last edited November 21, 
2018, http://www.nhsemployers.org/your-workforce/retain-and-improve/staff-experience/health-
work-and-wellbeing/sustaining-the-momentum/calendar-of-national-campaigns-2018/calendar-
of-national-campaigns-2017-table.

81　 	 Pollyanna Jones, “New Care Models: empowering patients and communities – A call to action for 
a directory of support,” NHS England, last edited December, 2015, 8, https://www.england.nhs.
uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/vanguards-support-directory.pdf. 

82　 	 “Realising the Value,” Coalition for Collaborative Care, accessed October 31, 2019, http://
coalitionforcollaborativecare.org.uk/resources/nesta/.

83　 	 “PAM implementation quick guide,” NHS England, last edited April 4, 2018, 9, https://www.
england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/patient-activation-measure-quick-guide.pdf. 

84　 	 “Patient activation,” NHS England, accessed October 11, 2019, https://www.england.nhs.uk/
ourwork/patient-participation/self-care/patient-activation/; Sarah Deeny, Ruth Thorlby and Adam 
Steventon, “Reducing emergency admissions: unlocking the potential of people to better manage 
their long-term conditions,” The Health Foundation, last edited August 2018, https://www.health.
org.uk/publications/reducing-emergency-admissions-unlocking-the-potential-of-people-to-
better-manage-their-long-term-conditions. 
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及具備良好管治，從而為服務提供者質素評級。87 若服務質素未達標，該委員

會可懲處服務提供者，包括發出告誡通知、罰款、暫停或取消服務註冊、檢控

危害病人安全的機構或醫護人員。88 

39. NHSI於2016年成立，是衞生行業的規管機構，有別於質素委員

會，NHSI 只針對衞生醫療服務，並不包括社區照顧服務。89 NHSI 的職責包括

為服務提供者註冊，並監督其服務表現與財政狀況。雖然NHSI不會為服務表

現評級，但他們根據「單一監督框架」（Single Oversight Framework）按服

務提供者的表現而決定介入的程度。90 NHSI 強調持續監督，而非只是定期或

一次性的程序，務求讓監管工作能適時識別問題且及早介入。NHSI 的監管工

作針對五方面，即護理質素、財政及資源運用、營運表現、策略發展及領導與

管治能力。91 若發現服務提供者違反牌照要求，NHSI可以暫停或撤銷牌照、

罰款、要求管理人員革職等方式處罰。92

40. 質素委員會與NHSI互相協作及配合，令監管方向更一致。質素委員

87　 	 服務表現分為四個級別：優異（outstanding），良好（good），有待改善（ requi res 
improvement）以及欠佳（inadequate）。質素委員會按表現評級而決定巡查的次數，如表現
欠佳的服務提供者每半年須至少一次，表現良好或優異則可每五年一次，巡查隊伍亦可進行突
擊檢查行動。資料來源：“When we will inspect GP Practices”, Care Quality Commission, last 
edited April 5, 2018, https://www.cqc.org.uk/guidance-providers/gps/when-we-will-inspect-gp-
practices.

88　 	 “Taking action,” Care Quality Commission, last edited May 29, 2017,  https://www.cqc.org.uk/
what-we-do/how-we-do-our-job/taking-action. 

89　 	 “The Regulatory Systems for Healthcare Quality across the United Kingdom,” British Medical 
Association, last edited December 7, 2018, https://www.bma.org.uk/collective-voice/policy-
and-research/nhs-structure-and-delivery/monitoring-quality-in-the-nhs/regulatory-systems-for-
healthcare-quality.

90　 	 該框架可分為四階段，而各階段設有應對措施：服務提供者（一）無需提供協作：因此NHSI
只會提供相關指引及資訊供服務提供者參考；（二）需提供部分協作：NHSI會提供指導或解
決方法；（三）出現重要問題：如違反牌照有關事宜，服務提供者必須按NHSI的要求而執行
應對措施；（四）面臨重大及複雜困難：NHSI將提供全面支援，盡量協作服務提供者脫離此階
段。資料來源：“Single Oversight Framework,” NHS Improvement, last edited November, 2017, 
16-20, https://improvement.nhs.uk/documents/400/Single_Oversight_Framework___update_
Nov_2017_Oct2018.pdf.

91　  Ibid.

92　 	 “The Regulatory Systems for Healthcare Quality across the United Kingdom,” British Medical 
Association, last edited December 7, 2018, https://www.bma.org.uk/collective-voice/policy-
and-research/nhs-structure-and-delivery/monitoring-quality-in-the-nhs/regulatory-systems-for-
healthcare-quality.
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https://www.cqc.org.uk/guidance-providers/gps/when-we-will-inspect-gp-practices
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病人福祉為依歸。2019年《施政報告》提出，香港政府計劃在任期內於全港

18區設立地區康健中心／站，反映政府銳意發展社區為本的基層醫療服務。98 

然而，若要服務切合當區居民所需，政府宜借鑑英格蘭的經驗，讓地區組織、

區議會、病人團體及醫療專業人員共同規劃、協調與統籌服務，借以集合各界

意見，應對居民需要。

45. 英格蘭當局亦對服務質量甚為重視，因此當地設有獨立健全監管機

制，專責監督醫療及社區護理服務的質素與成效。質素委員會有權處罰及檢控

服務提供者，旨在令監管措施能起阻嚇作用。同時，質素指標及成效框架提供

財政誘因，能鼓勵醫護人員提升服務水平。英格蘭政府亦會整理及公開服務評

估的結果與資料，讓公眾監察服務質素。由此可見，英格蘭採用軟硬兼施的監

管制度，評估內容亦公開透明，確保服務質量並重，公眾可問責管理委員。現

時，本港基層醫療健康辦事處負責督導基層醫療服務發展，但其監管的職權

範圍有限。未來地區康健中心的服務規模將遍布全港，故當局應考慮提升其職

能，並參考英格蘭監管部門的架構與工作，確保基層醫療服務能保障市民安全

及向公眾問責。

46. 值得注意的是，英格蘭醫療融資渠道單一，導致當地政府財政未能持

續應付與日俱增的醫療需求。香港若要參考英格蘭的服務模式，不能單純考慮

擴闊服務涵蓋面，更應向市民灌輸健康共承擔之概念，並探討更多元的融資選

項，確保具質素的醫療服務在財政上得以持續。

98　 行政長官2019年施政報告：《保護民康》，修訂日期：2019年10月16日，網址：https://www.
policyaddress.gov.hk/2019/chi/p36.html [ 於2019年10月登入 ]。

https://www.policyaddress.gov.hk/2019/chi/p36.html
https://www.policyaddress.gov.hk/2019/chi/p36.html
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提供上扮演重要角色。112 大部分澳洲國民透過普通科醫生獲取基層醫療服務， 

而各級政府、非政府機構及私營機構亦會資助及直接提供上述服務。113

8. 普通科醫生是大部分澳洲國民求醫的首個接觸點，負責提供不同類型

的健康服務，特別是慢性病管理，在2015至2016年間，當地有四成普通科醫

生曾處理最少一種慢性健康問題。同時，普通科醫生亦是國民接受專科服務的

「守門人」，有超過兩成半（26%）普通科診症涉及轉介至病理學、掃描或其

他檢測服務，另有一成半普通科病人轉介至專科、專職醫療、醫院或急症室服

務。此外，普通科醫生亦為國民提供健康咨詢。在2014至2015年間，15歲及

以上國民中有14%曾與普通科醫生討論體重管理、11%曾討論飲食調節，以及

10%曾討論增加運動量。114

9. 此外，澳洲政府亦以不同誘因及培訓計劃，鼓勵普通科醫生持續地向 

病人提供優質的醫療服務。115 「普通科診症獎勵計劃」（Practice Incentives  

Program, PIP）下的「質素改善計劃」（Quality Improvement Incentive）便

是一例116，若普通科醫生能滿足兩部分的條件，便可獲取相關獎勵。首部分

為「參與持續質量改善計劃（Participation in continuous quality improvement 

activities）」，要求普通科醫生與當地的基層健康網絡合作持續改善服務質

素；另一部分為呈交臨床數據（PIP Eligible Data Set），要求普通科醫生必

須每季以電子方式提交臨床數據（10組與慢性病風險因素有關的數據117），

而當區的基層健康網絡便會就有關數據提供意見回饋，以持續改善醫療服務

112	 “National Primary Health Care Strategic Framework,” Commonwealth of Australia, 
accessed October 30, 2019, 1, 6, https://www1.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/
Content/6084A04118674329CA257BF0001A349E/$File/NPHCframe.pdf.

113	 Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, “Australia’s health 2018”, (2018), 387. 

114	 Ibid, 389-391.

115 參與《普通科診症獎勵計劃》的普通科醫生須事先取得認證，詳情請參閱段38。

116	 《普通科診症獎勵計劃》在澳洲推行已久，而當局於2019年8月整合有關計劃，並推出新的 
《質素改善計劃》。資料來源：“Changes to the Practice Incentives Program (PIP),” South 
Eastern NSW PHN, last edited May 8, 2019, https://www.coordinare.org.au/news-and-events/
news/latest-news/changes-to-the-practice-incentives-program-pip/. 

117	 Department of Health, Australian Government, “Practice Incentives Program Eligible Data Set Data 
Governance Framework,” (2019), 10.
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安全、便捷及具效率的醫護服務。143 「我的健康紀錄」內各項資料來自醫護

專業人員、醫保計劃，以及病人本身，包括由醫生上載存有個別病人健康狀況

的共享健康摘要（shared health summary）和由政府保存個別病人醫保計劃

的資料。病人則可自行輸入額外個人健康資訊，以及設定各項保安和私隱權限

等。144 除了已登記的醫療服務提供機構外，國民可透過政府電子帳戶或獲官

方認可的第三方應用程式查閱電子健康紀錄。145

23. 「我的健康紀錄」現分別由澳洲數碼健康署（Australian Digital Health 

Agency）和澳洲資訊科技專員公署（Office of the Australian Information 

Commissioner）負責管理及監察電子健康紀錄系統的私隱問題，並受《我的

健康紀錄法令》（My Health Record Act）及其他相關法例或規例監管。146 

24. 另一方面，當局已於2019年初起採用「拒絕參與」（opt-out）模

式，即所有合資格國民在生效日期起，除非主動要求退出計劃，否則將自動登

記「我的健康紀錄」。147 截至2019年7月底，「我的健康紀錄」全國平均參與

率超過九成（90.1%）148；至於服務提供者方面，16,400間醫護服務機構已登

記，其中提供普通科門診服務的醫護機構有7,240間、藥房有4,770間，而包括

143 “Evaluation of the My Health Record Participation Trials,” Department of Health, Australian 
Government, last edited May 4, 2017, https://www1.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/
content/ehealth-evaluation-trials; “How My Health Record benefits you?,” Australian Digital Health 
Agency, Australian Government, accessed October 8, 2019, https://www.myhealthrecord.gov.
au/for-you-your-family/my-health-record-benefits.

144 “What’s in a My Health Record?,” Australian Digital Health Agency, Australian Government, 
accessed October 8, 2019, https://www.myhealthrecord.gov.au/for-you-your-family/whats-in-my-
health-record. 

145　 	 目前有三款應用程式獲官方認證可連接至「我的健康紀錄」，但當局表明應用程式不可保存病
人任何資料和僅供閱覽（view-only）。資料來源：“View your record using an app,” Australian 
Digital Health Agency, Australian Government, accessed March 4, 2020, https://www.
myhealthrecord.gov.au/for-you-your-family/howtos/view-your-record-using-app.

146　 	 “Legislation and governance,” My Health Record, Australian Digital Health Agency, Australian 
Government, accessed October 30, 2019, https://www.myhealthrecord.gov.au/about/legislation-
and-governance. 

147　 	 “About My Health Record,” healthdirect, accessed October 31, 2019, https://www.healthdirect.
gov.au/my-health-record. 

148　 	 即代表約一成合資格受醫保計劃保障人士，主動要求退出「我的健康紀錄」。
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27. 政府一般稅項收入是醫療保障計劃的主要財政來源；另外，澳洲

2019年最高個人所得稅稅率為45%156，政府會向納稅人額外收取應課稅入息

的2%作為醫療保障計劃征款，並配合用者自付費用，以及私人醫療保險，成

為輔助醫療融資的經費來源。157

28. 在私人醫療保險層面，澳洲政府積極推動有一定負擔能力的國民自願

投購私人醫療保險。澳洲政府透過財政手段和制定規管私人醫療保險市場活

動的法律框架，鼓勵國民多使用私營醫療服務，減輕醫療保障計劃的財政壓

力。158 當局向達一定收入水平而未有購買任何私人醫療保險的人士征收附加

費（應課稅入息的1.0%至1.5%不等159）；另一邊廂，政府會向已購買私人醫

療保險的國民提供稅務減免，協助他們抵消部分保費成本。160 

29. 澳洲2018年的人均國內生產總值（GDP）為57,373.7美元（即接近

45萬港元）161，而基層醫療健康服務一直佔澳洲整體醫療經常開支相當重要部

分，在2015/16至2017/18年度的佔比均超過三成，分別為37.1%、36.7%，以

及36.0%，而公私營開支比例大概為六四比。162 至於政府（聯邦政府和州

及地方政府）在上述三個年度的基層醫療開支，則皆佔整體公共醫療開支逾三

成。其中，聯邦政府基層醫療開支佔公共基層醫療健康服務總開支約七成四，

156	 “Individual Income Tax Rates Table,” KPMG, accessed March 4, 2020, https://home.kpmg/xx/en/
home/services/tax/tax-tools-and-resources/tax-rates-online/individual-income-tax-rates-table.html.

157	 “Medicare Levy,” Australian Taxation Office, Australian Government, last edited June 27, 2019, 
https://www.ato.gov.au/Individuals/Medicare-levy/.

158	 “Government Surcharges & Incentives,” The Office of the Commonwealth Ombudsman, accessed 
October 11, 2019, https://privatehealth.gov.au/health_insurance/surcharges_incentives/index.
htm; “Private health insurance laws,” Department of Health, Australian Government, last edited 
April 15, 2019, https://www.health.gov.au/health-topics/private-health-insurance/about-private-
health-insurance/private-health-insurance-laws.

159	 “Medicare Levy Surcharge,” PrivateHealth.gov.au, accessed November 5, 2019, https://
privatehealth.gov.au/health_insurance/surcharges_incentives/medicare_levy.htm. 

160	 “Medicare Levy,” Australian Taxation Office, Australian Government, last edited June 27, 2019, 
https://www.ato.gov.au/Individuals/Medicare-levy/. 

161	 “GDP per capita,” The World Bank, accessed March 4, 2020, https://data.worldbank.org/
indicator/NY.GDP.PCAP.CD.

162	 “Health Expenditure Australia 2017-18,” Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, accessed 
October 30, 2019, https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/health-welfare-expenditure/health-
expenditure-australia-2017-18/data.

https://home.kpmg/xx/en/home/services/tax/tax-tools-and-resources/tax-rates-online/individual-income-tax-rates-table.html
https://home.kpmg/xx/en/home/services/tax/tax-tools-and-resources/tax-rates-online/individual-income-tax-rates-table.html
https://www.ato.gov.au/Individuals/Medicare-levy/
https://privatehealth.gov.au/health_insurance/surcharges_incentives/index.htm
https://privatehealth.gov.au/health_insurance/surcharges_incentives/index.htm
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https://www.health.gov.au/health-topics/private-health-insurance/about-private-health-insurance/private-health-insurance-laws
https://www.privatehealth.gov.au/
https://privatehealth.gov.au/health_insurance/surcharges_incentives/medicare_levy.htm
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https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.PCAP.CD
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https://www.aihw.gov.au/getmedia/64cd1ee5-772d-4f01-ad14-c2fb9c6d6682/aihw-hwe-74-20180928.pdf.aspx
https://www.aihw.gov.au/getmedia/64cd1ee5-772d-4f01-ad14-c2fb9c6d6682/aihw-hwe-74-20180928.pdf.aspx
https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/health-welfare-expenditure/health-expenditure-australia-2017-18/data
https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/health-welfare-expenditure/health-expenditure-australia-2017-18/data
https://qrgo.page.link/a8CrS
https://qrgo.page.link/a8CrS
https://qrgo.page.link/a8CrS


https://www.health.gov.au/initiatives-and-programs
https://qrgo.page.link/CWkjR
https://qrgo.page.link/CWkjR


https://www.health.gov.au/about-us/the-australian-health-system
http://www.coaghealthcouncil.gov.au/CHC/Introduction
http://www.coaghealthcouncil.gov.au/CHC/Introduction
http://www.coaghealthcouncil.gov.au/AHMAC/Introduction
https://qrgo.page.link/o8ZjB
https://qrgo.page.link/o8ZjB


56

到政府提供基層醫療健康服務的目標。174

37. 至於醫護人員方面，澳洲目前共有15個法定管理局參與2010年推

出的全國統一的註冊及認證制度，由法定管理局分別制定相應註冊要求，

規管個別醫護界別內的專業人士，而澳洲醫護專業人員監管局（Austral ian 

Health Practitioner Regulation Agency）負責協助各管理局落實相關制度 175； 

其他屬註冊及認證制度範圍外的醫護從業員則由《醫護從業員行為守則》 

進行監管。176 另以普通科為例，全科醫學學院會定期更新普通科診治標準

（Standards for general practices）177，亦為普通科醫生在提供不同醫護服務

和處理各種醫療情況時，制定相應臨床指引。178 

38. 此外，全科醫學學院亦與獨立法定機構 ─ 澳洲醫療安全及質量委員

會（Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care）推出自願性普

通科醫學認證計劃（The National General Practice Accreditation Scheme）， 

透過持續評估，確保服務符合全科醫學學院訂定的標準，並容許服務提供者參

174　 	 “Report on Government Services 2019 Part E Chapter 10 Primary and community health,” 
Productivity Commission, Australian Government, accessed October 30, 2019, https://
www.pc.gov.au/research/ongoing/report-on-government-services/2019/health/primary-and-
community-health/rogs-2019-parte-chapter10.pdf.

175	 此註冊及認證制度並非聯邦政府項目，而是透過各州及領地政府的一致立法而執行。另外，由
健康委員會成立的國家醫護人員申訴及私隱專員公署（National Health Practitioner Ombudsman 
and Privacy Commissioner）亦會獨立處理針對相關公營機構行政手法的投訴，以監察有關制度
是否有效落實。資料來源：“AHPRA FAQ,” Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency, 
last edited August 27, 2015, https://www.ahpra.gov.au/About-AHPRA/What-We-Do/FAQ.
aspx; “The Ombudsman And Commissioner,” National Health Practitioner Ombudsman and 
Privacy Commissioner, last edited October 17, 2018, https://nhpopc.gov.au/about-us/; “Make 
A Complaint,” National Health Practitioner Ombudsman and Privacy Commissioner, last edited 
February 1, 2019, https://nhpopc.gov.au/make-a-complaint/.

176	 “National Registration and Accreditation Scheme (NRAS),” Department of Health, Australian 
Government, last edited June 17, 2019, https://www1.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/
Content/work-nras.

177	 “Standards for general practices 5th edition,” The Royal Australian College of General Practice, 
accessed October 30, 2019, https://www.racgp.org.au/FSDEDEV/media/documents/Running%20
a%20practice/Practice%20standards/5th%20edition/Standards-for-general-practice-5th-edition.
pdf.

178	 “View all guidelines by topic,” The Royal Australian College of General Practice, accessed 
October 9, 2019, https://www.racgp.org.au/clinical-resources/clinical-guidelines/guidelines-by-
topic/view-all-guidelines-by-topic.
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與政府各項獎勵計劃。179 

39. 澳洲政府設立各項獎勵計劃，目的是鼓勵普通科醫生持續地向病人提

供優質的醫療服務。180 「普通科診症獎勵計劃」（Practice Incentives Program, 

PIP）下的「質素改善計劃」（Quality Improvement Incentive）便是一例181，若

普通科醫生能滿足兩部分的條件，便可獲取相關獎勵。首部分為「參與持續質

量改善計劃（Participation in continuous quality improvement activities）」，要

求普通科醫生與當地的基層健康網絡合作持續改善服務質素；另一部分為呈交

臨床數據（PIP Eligible Data Set），要求普通科醫生必須每季以電子方式提交

臨床數據（10組與慢性病風險因素有關的數據182），而當區的基層健康網絡便

會就有關數據提供意見回饋，以持續改善醫療服務質素。183

40. 普通科以外，當局亦正草擬《全國基層醫療健康服務安全及質量準

則》（National Safety and Quality Primary Health Care Standards），監管各

醫療機構的基層醫療健康服務提供者的服務質素。184

179	 “The National General Practice Accreditation Scheme,” Australian Commission on Safety and 
Quality in Health Care, accessed October 9, 2019, https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/our-work/
primary-care/national-general-practice-accreditation-scheme; “Guide to the approval process for 
accrediting agencies assessing general practice,” Australian Commission on Safety and Quality 
in Health Care, accessed October 30, 2019, https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/sites/default/
files/2019-06/gp_accreditation_-_guide_to_the_approval_process_for_accrediting_agencies_
may_2017.pdf.

180 參與《普通科診症獎勵計劃》的普通科醫生須事先取得認證，詳情請參閱第39段。

181	 《普通科診症獎勵計劃》在澳洲推行已久，而當局於2019年8月整合有關計劃，並推出新的 
《質素改善計劃》。資料來源：“Changes to the Practice Incentives Program (PIP),” South 
Eastern NSW PHN, last edited May 8, 2019, https://www.coordinare.org.au/news-and-events/
news/latest-news/changes-to-the-practice-incentives-program-pip/. 

182　 	 Department of Health, Australian Government, “Practice Incentives Program Eligible Data Set Data 
Governance Framework,” (2019), 10.

183　 	 Department of Health, Australian Government, “Practice Incentives Program Quality Improvement 
Incentive Guidelines,” (2019), 4-6.

184　 	 “National Safety and Quality Primary Health Care (NSQPHC) Standards,” Australian Commission 
on Safety and Quality in Health Care, accessed March 4, 2020, https://www.safetyandquality.
gov.au/standards/national-safety-and-quality-primary-health-care-nsqphc-standards.
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醫護人力資源進行詳細推算，亦未有就個別醫療專業，如家庭醫學專科等進行

評估及分析，因而未能確立數據基礎，支持家庭醫學及其他與基層醫療相關的

專科發展。可見，澳洲普通科醫療服務發展蓬勃是基於當局在資源及政策定位

上的全力支持。

45. 最後，隨着慢性病日漸普遍，以往依賴單一醫護人員提供服務的形式

已不合時宜，因此澳洲政府於近年推出「基層健康網絡」，透過劃分不同區

域，設立獨立地區組織，連繫不同服務提供者，以改善醫護服務協調。此外，

「基層健康網絡」亦可因應當區特定需要，整合資源提供額外服務。而香港於

2019年成立的地區康健中心，其理念與澳洲的「基層健康網絡」相近，不過

地區康健中心的定位集中於服務提供上，暫未確立其協調服務的重要功能，因

此政府應參考澳洲經驗，考慮透過地區康健中心建立「地區康健網絡」，發揮

更多「委託」功能，加強服務協調。
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7. 隨着慢性病愈趨普遍，當局認為基層醫療的角色顯得更為重要。新加

坡政府近年積極協調公私營醫療服務，並推廣家庭醫生概念，鼓勵普通科醫生關

懷病人終身健康和協助管理慢性疾病。201 三間公營醫療機構成立宗旨亦是協調

醫療服務提供者、加強與普通科醫生合作，並管理其所屬地區的人口健康。各

機構分別推出多項與私家診所合作的計劃 202，協助國民在社區接受更協調及具

針對性的基層醫療健康服務。在2009年成立的獨立機構（Agency of Integrated 

Care）亦肩負協調各項醫療健康服務，尤其基層及社區醫療服務的職責。203

8. 為實踐新加坡政府提倡醫護服務「由醫院轉移至社區」（beyond 

hospital to community）的理念 204，並促進私營服務提供者共享醫療與行政資

源，當局於2018年推出基層醫療網絡（Primary Care Network），協助私家診

所以網絡形式組建團隊，並由家庭醫生（Family Physician）擔任領導者 205，讓

病人可於住所附近獲得更全面的慢性病管理服務。206 基層醫療網絡覆蓋糖尿病

足部與視網膜疾病篩查，以及護士醫務咨詢和教育三類服務。207 截至2020年

201　 	 Ministry of Health, Singapore, “Caring for our People 50 years of healthcare in Singapore,” (2015), 
176, 190-191.

202	 “Collaboration with RHS,” Agency for Integrated Care, accessed October 2, 2019, https://www.
primarycarepages.sg/practice-management/primary-care-model/collaboration-with-rhs.

203　 	 Ministry of Health, Singapore, “Caring for our People 50 years of healthcare in Singapore,” (2015), 
186.

204	 “Opening Address by Dr Amy Khor, Senior Minister of State, Ministry of Health, at the Singapore 
Healthcare Management Congress 2018, 14 August 2018,” Ministry of Health, Singapore, last 
edited August 25, 2018, https://www.moh.gov.sg/news-highlights/details/opening-address-by-dr-
amy-khor-senior-minister-of-state-ministry-of-health-at-the-singapore-healthcare-management-
congress-2018-14-august-2018.

205	 目前基層醫療網絡有兩種模式，分別是(1)由多個單獨執業的普通科醫生自行組成網絡，以及
(2)由個別普通科醫生與三間公營機構或大型醫療集團合作。兩種模式皆由家庭醫生（Family 
Physician）擔任領導角色，而後者的行政工作會由公營機構或大型醫療集團負責。資料來
源：“Primary Care Network (PCN),” Agency for Integrated Care, accessed March 2, 2019, 
https://www.primarycarepages.sg/practice-management/primary-care-model/primary-care-
network-(pcn).

206	 當局更會提供適切的財政及行政支援，例如為個別網絡聘請護理輔導員及協調員提供資助。
資料來源：“Primary Care Network,” Ministry of Health, Singapore, last edited March 7, 2019, 
https://www.moh.gov.sg/our-healthcare-system/healthcare-services-and-facilities/primary-care-
networks. 

207　 	 部分基層醫療網絡亦會提供精神健康服務。資料來源：“Primary Care Network (PCN),” Agency 
for Integrated Care, accessed October 10, 2019, https://www.primarycarepages.sg/practice-
management/primary-care-model/primary-care-network-(pcn).
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2月，逾500間醫療服務機構共組成10個網絡 208，並在2018年為逾七萬名慢性 

病患者提供服務。209 當局近年亦推展家庭醫學診所模式，診所有多名普通科醫

生駐診，並由護士及專職醫療人員組成的團隊提供全面醫護服務，三間公營醫

療機構會則負責各方面支援工作，令普通科醫生可成為國民第一個接觸點。210

9. 另外，新加坡政府先後成立六間社區健康中心，每間提供三至六種配

套服務，包括健康教育及身體檢查，輔助普通科醫生跟進慢性病患者情況及適

時提供支援。211 

10. 社區健康中心由衞生部轄下公營機構或私營服務提供者營運，並由擁

有至少五年經驗的護士或專職醫療人員等註冊醫療專業人員處理日常運作事

宜。212 由於醫生須事先評估及診斷病人情況，以決定合適檢查，所以社區健

康中心只接受由醫生轉介的病人，而病人須事先預約，才可使用一系列服務。

再者，社區健康中心主要用作輔助普通科醫生，而各項檢查結果亦會轉交至個

別病人的普通科醫生跟進，故社區健康中心不會有任何醫生駐診。213

208	 “Listing of Primary Care Networks,” Agency for Integrated Care, last edited January 1, 2020, 
https://www.primarycarepages.sg/Documents/Practice%20Management/Listing%20of%20
Primary%20Care%20Networks_01Jan20.pdf; “List of GP Clinics Under Primary Care Network 
(PCN) Scheme,” Agency for Integrated Care, last edited February 14, 2020, https://www.
primarycarepages.sg/Documents/Practice%20Management/PCP%20-%20PCN%20Clinic%20
Listing%20-%202020_02_14%20%28By%20PCN%29.pdf.

209	 “Speech By Dr. Lam Pin Min, Senior Minister of State for Health, At the Ministry of Health Committee 
of Supply Debate 2019, on Wednesday 6 March 2019,” Ministry of Health, Singapore, last edited 
March 6, 2019, https://www.moh.gov.sg/news-highlights/details/speech-by-dr-lam-pin-min-
senior-minister-of-state-for-health-at-the-ministry-of-health-committee-of-supply-debate-2019-
on-wednesday-6-march-2019.

210 Ministry of Health, Singapore, “Caring for our People 50 years of healthcare in Singapore,” (2015), 
191; “Family Medicine Clinics (FMCs),” Agency for Integrated Care, accessed March 2, 2020, 
https://www.primarycarepages.sg/practice-management/primary-care-model/family-medicine-
clinics-(fmcs); “Primary Care Landscape in Singapore,” Ministry of Health, Singapore, accessed 
March 2, 2020, 8, http://www3.ha.org.hk/haconvention/hac2015/proceedings/downloads/
P1.2.pdf.

211　 	 其中一間社區健康中心以流動車形式運作。資料來源：“Community Health Centres,” Agency 
for Integrated Care, accessed March 2, 2020, https://www.aic.sg/care-services/Community%20
Health%20Centres; “Community Health Centre,” National Healthcare Group, accessed March 2, 
2020, https://corp.nhg.com.sg/RHSys/Pages/CHC.aspx.

212	 “Community Health Centres,” Agency for Integrated Care, accessed March 2, 2020, https://
www.aic.sg/care-services/Community%20Health%20Centres.

213　 	 Ibid. 
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29. 戶口持有人可使用醫療戶口的儲蓄，支付新加坡公營及獲衞生部認可 

的私營醫療機構的部分／全部相關服務的小額醫療開支，當中包括保費支付 

（如支付終身醫療保障計劃保費，詳情請參閱第30至31段）、住院、門診，

以及長期護理四大類別。251 就門診服務而言，國民可透過醫療戶口支付疫苗

注射、檢查身體，以及慢性疾病治理等相關醫護服務的費用252，惟中醫治療

不包括在內。253 當局亦規定不同類別醫護服務每年可動用醫療戶口的金額上

限。254 另一方面，除戶口持有人外，其醫療戶口積存的款項，更可用作支付

其直系親屬的醫療及保費開支。255

終身醫療保障計劃

30. 終身醫療保障計劃屬於強制性基本醫療健康保險，主要用作支付大額

醫院服務和較昂貴的門診服務的部分費用，如癌症化療及透析治療。256 這計

劃可視為醫療儲蓄計劃之外的額外保障。

31. 另外，新加坡國民亦可選擇參與綜合醫療保障計劃，以擴大終身醫療

保障計劃的覆蓋範圍。綜合醫療保障計劃包含終身醫療保障計劃及私人醫療保

險兩部分，私人醫療保險將為綜合醫療保障計劃參與人提供更多保障，如涵蓋

私營醫院或公營醫院較高等級病房的相關開支。目前共有七間保險公司參與綜

251 “MediSave,” Ministry of Health, Singapore, last edited August 2, 2019, https://www.moh.gov.sg/
cost-financing/healthcare-schemes-subsidies/medisave.

252 “List of Outpatient Treatments under MediSave,” Central Provident Fund Board, last 
edited October 1, 2019, https://www.cpf.gov.sg/Assets/members/Documents/Medisave_
ListofOutpatientTreatments.pdf.

253 “MediSave: FAQ,” Central Provident Fund Board, last edited March 2, 2020, https://
www.cpf.gov.sg/members/FAQ/schemes/Healthcare/MediSave/FAQDetails?category= 
Healthcare&group=MediSave&folderid=12975&ajfaqid=2189465.

254 “MediSave: CPF Scheme,” Central Provident Fund Board, last edited February 28, 2020, https://
www.cpf.gov.sg/Members/Schemes/schemes/healthcare/medisave.

255 “MediSave: FAQ,” Central Provident Fund Board, last edited March 2, 2020, https://
www.cpf.gov.sg/members/FAQ/schemes/Healthcare/MediSave/FAQDetails?category= 
Healthcare&group=MediSave&folderid=12909&ajfaqid=6323375; “MediSave,” Central Provident 
Fund Board, last edited March 2, 2020, https://www.cpf.gov.sg/members/FAQ/schemes/Healthcare/
MediSave/FAQDetails?category=Healthcare&group=MediSave&folderid=12909&ajfaqid=2299831.

256 “MediShield Life,” Ministry of Health, Singapore, last edited November 7, 2019, https://www.
moh.gov.sg/cost-financing/healthcare-schemes-subsidies/medishield-life.
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示，仍有逾四成（41%）慢性病病人由政府綜合診所負責跟進。271 

40. 為確保醫療資源有效運用，新加坡政府近年推出多項資助計劃和加強

公私營協作，例如鼓勵以多方協作模式，構建由醫生、護士、護理輔導員及護

理協調員組成的基層醫療網絡，讓部分病人可在居所附近使用更全面的基層

醫療健康服務。當地另一項較新穎的服務模式是社區健康中心，而香港政府於

2017年施政報告提出的地區康健中心，其理念和運作模式與社區健康中心有

不少相似之處。兩地均意識到加強跨界協作，可令醫療資源有效運用，而引導

病人至私營市場亦將有助紓緩公營醫療系統負擔。

42. 俗語有云「預防勝於治療」，預防服務是推動全民健康的重要一環。

新加坡政府推出全國普查計劃，資助國民按年齡定期進行特定疾病篩查，期望

借此提高國民健康意識。至於本港方面，衞生署一直推行子宮頸癌普查及大腸

癌篩查計劃，而地區康健中心同樣提供免費健康評估服務。若將現行篩查項目

進一步整合，並加入其他合適項目，並提供適量資助，相信有助提高市民定期

檢查身體的意識。

43. 總括而言，香港與新加坡在醫療制度上有不少相似之處，但其中較大

分別在於新加坡政府會較多地介入，例如兩地同樣面對私營醫療服務提供者甚

少上載病人資料的情況，而新加坡欲強制要求醫護專業人員上載病人資料至

國家電子健康紀錄。另外，新加坡奉行「保障健康，人人有責」的醫療體系理

念，強調「用者自付」原則，即保障健康是國民的個人責任，政府則會為有需

要人士提供支援，確保他們可使用基本醫護服務。當局相對靈活的融資渠道拓

闊醫療財政來源，有利建立可持續醫療系統，亦有助灌輸市民為個人健康負責

的意識。本港政府在推動市民自行負擔醫療開支上，一直舉步維艱。若能放寬

強積金供款用途，長遠或有助市民逐步接受「共同承擔」的理念。

271	 Ministry of Health, Singapore, “Primary Care Survey 2014,” (2017), 9.
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改革基金，支援各地方政府採取措施強化基層醫療以及跨地區合作。313

26. 加拿大的醫療系統有一獨特之處，在於服務由政府出資、私人提供。

政府是唯一的買家，借前述的國家醫療保險制度，向私營服務提供者購買服

務。實際服務內容和付款方式按地區而定，其中付款方式通常會混合「按診

症量計算」、「按服務地區內登記病人數目計算（capitation）、「薪酬」、 

「按服務節數計算」和「特定服務補助（例如夜間及假日服務、新病人登記、

長者服務）」。314 在這安排下，加拿大的基層醫療服務可說是兼具公營和私

營的特質：政府的規管嚴密，但亦留有彈性給各省以制訂實際服務內容。

27. 2018年加拿大人均國內生產總值（GDP per capita）高達46,233.0

美元（約362,420港元），遠超過全球人均GDP的11,312.4美元（約88,678

港元），屬已發展地區。315 2018年加拿大基層醫療開支佔整體醫療開支的

33.1%，高於香港（28.1%，2017/18年度）、英國（25.9%，2017年）、荷

蘭（20.8%，2018年）及中國內地（4.3%，2018年）。而當地政府亦就基

層醫療開支作出較大的財政承擔，公共基層醫療開支佔政府整體醫療開支的

34.5%。316

313	 “Primary health care transition fund,” Government of Canada, last edited March 1, 2007, https://
www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/primary-health-care/primary-health-care-transition-
fund.html; Health Canada, “Primary Health Transition Fund: Summary of Initiatives: Final Edition,” 
(2007),1.

314	 Brian Hutchison et al., “Primary Health Care in Canada: Systems in Motion,” The Milbank quarterly 
89, no. 2 (2011), 256-288.

315	 “GDP per capita (current US$),” The World Bank, accessed March 2, 2020, https://data.worldbank.
org/indicator/NY.GDP.PCAP.CD.

316	 有關數字以「非住院護理醫療服務提供單位」（providers of ambulatory health care）及「預防
護理提供單位」（providers of preventive care）開支計算，有關方法可參閱智經《增資源 拓渠
道 強化香港基層醫療健康》研究報告。資料來源：食物及衞生局：《本地醫療衞生總開支賬目
（DHA）》，2018年，頁15，網址：https://www.fhb.gov.hk/statistics/download/dha/cn/dha_
summary_report_1718.pdf [ 於2019年10月登入 ]；“Health expenditure and financing,” OECD.Stat, 
accessed 4 November, 2019, https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=SHA.
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33. 其他與醫療或基層醫療相關的組織，包括健康加拿大（H e a l t h 

Canada）、加拿大公共衞生署（Public Health Agency of Canada）等政府部

門，協助國民維持和改善健康狀況及提供健康資訊；以及政府資助機構加拿大

醫療研究所（Canadian Institutes of Health Research），負責醫療研究。加

拿大醫學會則作為專業學會，代表醫生專業團體就健康議題進行教育推廣等工

作；加拿大家庭醫學院（The College of Family Physicians of Canada）則致力

為家庭醫生的培訓、執業資格認證及終身教育制訂標準，並進行有關家庭醫學

的倡議工作（見表一）。





96

35. 自2000年代以來，加拿大政府加倍重視基層醫療，撥款成立專項基

金試行基層醫療改革，試圖打造跨團隊和跨專業的服務模式。現時，已有約

八成半的加拿大國民擁有固定的家庭醫生，他們會為患者提供首診、轉介及

相關健康服務。政府雖不禁止市民直接向其他專科求診，但未經家庭醫生轉

介的專科醫生所得政府款項會較少。反觀香港，港人求醫仍然慣於「Doctor 

Shopping」，部分人甚至認為家庭醫生轉介的做法阻礙他們直接向專科醫生

求診。由於兩地醫療體制不同，香港難以直接複製加拿大式的經濟手段改變市

民求醫行為，但當務之急，必須釋除部分人的誤解及疑慮，協助市民逐步建立

家庭醫生的觀念。

36. 加拿大醫護人手相對充裕，為基層醫療服務提供奠定了堅實基礎。當

地學生之所以樂於從事家庭醫學專業，原因之一是其研究生階段的駐院實習只

需兩年，較其他專科實習期為短（大部分需時五年）323，家庭醫學畢業生可盡

快考取加拿大家庭醫學文憑試開始執業。在培訓場所方面，家庭醫學駐院培訓

的實習地點除醫院外，亦着重社區診所，這點值得香港借鑑。324 此外，加拿

大的註冊執業護師在一定規範下擁有藥物處方權，有助減輕醫生負擔。但在香

港必須通過修例才可允許護士處方藥物，較難在短期內實行。

37. 加拿大幅員遼闊，人口眾多，醫療系統實行分層管理架構。聯邦政府

負責制訂全國醫療政策及財政撥備，省政府必須滿足法例規定的醫療準則，才

可獲得聯邦政府撥款，並擁有財政自主權，包括授權非牟利性質的地區醫療架

構，協調各個分區的醫療衞生服務。這做法的優勢在於政府部門分工明確，層

層滲透，能夠回應不同的社區需求。以社區為本亦是香港成立地區康健中心的

核心理念，兩地政府均意識到，基層醫療服務沒有一刀切的模式，唯有理解各

個社區的異同，才能更有效地規劃和提供具質素的健康服務。

323　 	 “2018-2019 Specialty Report,” The Canadian Post-M.D. Education Registry (CAPER), accessed 
October 31, 2019, https://caper.ca/sites/default/files/pdf/specialty/2018-19_Individual_Specialty_
Tables.pdf.

324　 	 “Family Medicine Profile,” Canadian Medical Association, last edited August 2018, 5, https://
www.cma.ca/sites/default/files/2019-01/family-e.pdf.
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https://www.cma.ca/sites/default/files/2019-01/family-e.pdf
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38. 現時，加拿大國家醫療保險幾乎涵蓋所有門診、急症、善終甚至精神

健康等基層醫療服務，服務內容涵蓋之廣值得稱頌。然而，雖然加拿大政府目

標是希望使國民在沒有經濟或其他障礙的條件下，在需要時合理地獲得醫療服

務，但以稅收為本的健保制度亦為當地醫療系統的財政持續性埋下隱憂。
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15名。328 另外，根據歐洲醫療消費者指數（Euro Health Consumer Index）報 

告，荷蘭於2018年排名第二位，亦是該指數自2005年發布以來，唯一穩定躋

身首三位的歐洲國家。329

3. 雖然荷蘭醫療系統表現突出，但同樣面對人口高齡化。當地人口年

齡中位數由2005年的39.0歲升至2015年的42.1歲。330 根據荷蘭中央統計局

（Statistics Netherlands，CBS）資料，2019年荷蘭整體人口約1,730萬，其

中65歲及以上長者佔整體人口的比例，預計將由2019年的19.2%上升至2036

年的25.6%。331 此外，2019年荷蘭約三成人（31.2%）患有至少一種慢性

病。332 面對人口高齡化及慢性病的較高患病率，荷蘭的基層醫療健康服務需

求預期將會增加。

328	 Lee J Miller and Wei Lu, “These Are the World’s Healthiest Nations,” Bloomberg, last edited 
February 24, 2019, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2019-02-24/spain-tops-italy-as-
world-s-healthiest-nation-while-u-s-slips.

329	 “Euro Health Consumer Index 2018,” Health Consumer Powerhouse, last edited February 25, 
2019, 9, https://healthpowerhouse.com/media/EHCI-2018/EHCI-2018-report.pdf.	

330	 荷蘭人口平均年齡由2009年的39.9歲升至2019年的42.0歲。資料來源：H. Plecher, “Netherlands: 
Median age of the population 1950 to 2050 (in years),” Statista, last edited July 16, 2019, https://
www.statista.com/statistics/276734/median-age-of-the-netherlands-population/; “Population; key 
figures,” Statistics Netherlands (CBS), last edited December 12, 2019, https://opendata.cbs.nl/
statline/#/CBS/en/dataset/37296eng/table?ts=1569395227941.

331	 2019年荷蘭實際人口為17,282,163人。資料來源：“Population; key figures,” Statistics Netherlands 
(CBS), last edited December 12, 2019, https://opendata.cbs.nl/statline/#/CBS/en/dataset/37296eng/
table?ts=1569395227941; “Key figures of the population forecasts 2017-2060,” Statistics Netherlands 
(CBS), last edited December 19, 2017, https://opendata.cbs.nl/statline/#/CBS/en/dataset/83783ENG/
table?ts=1538979761320.

332	 2018年有關比例為30.9%。資料來源：“Health and health care; personal characteristics,” 
Statistics Netherlands (CBS), last edited March 4, 2020, https://opendata.cbs.nl/statline/#/CBS/
en/dataset/83005ENG/table?ts=1569393810698.
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「管理型競爭」模式，即政府透過立法和行政手段進行全方位監管，與具競爭

性的私人保險市場互相配合，加上其他與公共衞生、長期護理、社會保障及青

年等相關的法案，致力確保所有國民皆能獲得可及、可負擔及優質的醫療服

務，從而實現全民健康覆蓋。

39. 荷蘭基層醫療服務涵蓋面廣，基礎設施齊備，市民更可透過網絡、藥

房和全科服務站在非應診時間求診。尤其是全科服務站，有別於醫院24小時

急症室，當地大部分普通科醫生均須加入，並僅提供夜間和假日服務。反觀香

港，由於交通便利，遠程醫療不算發達；另外大部分公立門診和私家診所不提

供夜診服務，以至病況輕微的患者在別無選擇的情況下於急症室就醫，加重公

立醫院負擔。雖然荷蘭全科服務站方便市民求診，但香港若要仿效必須思考醫

護人手是否充裕以應付所需。

40. 值得一提的是，家庭醫生在荷蘭的地位舉足輕重，所有國民必須向一

名普通科醫生登記，稱得上是「一人一家庭醫生」。他們擔當整個醫療系統的把

關人，判斷患者是否需要轉介，若無其初步診斷，未必能夠預約專科醫生或獲醫

療保險賠付；又是服務協調者，平衡其他醫護人員、保險公司和患者的不同利

益及需要。例如前述針對特定慢性病推出的捆綁式付款制度，以及向聘請專科

護士和醫生助理的醫生提供在職培訓津貼，均以醫生作為有關措施的主要協調

人。相比之下，香港由於缺乏政策誘因和重視，家庭醫生的角色仍然有待提升。

41. 醫療制度的財政可持續性是任何地方皆無法迴避的議題。荷蘭的強制

私人醫療保險制度，有助減輕政府的財政壓力，但同時高度仰賴個人健康責

任，國民須繳付頗高稅款及一定保費，才可獲得醫療保障。本港一向奉行低稅

率和簡單稅制，較難在短期內實現根本性的改革。

42. 事實上，荷蘭強制私人醫療保險得以落實，亦與當地人購買醫療保險

的意識之高有關。在推出強制私人保險前，幾乎全部荷蘭國民已有購買醫療保

險，額外購買自願醫保亦非常普遍。而從香港多年來就醫療保險的討論可見，

自願性質的醫保計劃是香港社會取得共識的方案。要徹底改變個人意識和行

為，健康教育亦是關鍵所在。
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2. 以色列的基層醫療健康系統備受國際認可，經濟合作與發展組織 

（下稱「經合組織」）在2012年曾指出以色列的基層醫療服務優異394，而以

色列亦在2019年彭博最健康國家指數中位列第10名。395 根據以色列中央統計局

（Central Bureau of Statistics）的資料，2018年以色列人口約為888萬人，65

歲及以上人士佔總人口11.7%，並預計於2035年達到13.7% 396，而人口年齡中

位數由2008年的28.8歲上升至2018年年底的29.9歲。397 此外，2018年以色列 

男性及女性的預期人均壽命分別為80.9及84.8歲 398，高於大部分經濟體。399 

雖然如此，以色列仍有一定人口患有慢性病，以高血壓及糖尿病為例，兩者的

患病率分別為20.6%及8.4%。400

394　 	 “Israel: excellent primary health care, but hospitals must improve,” OECD, accessed October 4, 
2019, https://www.oecd.org/health/israelexcellentprimaryhealthcarebuthospitalsmustimprove.htm. 

395　 	 Lee J Miller and Wei Lu, “These Are the World’s Healthiest Nations,” Bloomberg, last edited 
February 24, 2019, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2019-02-24/spain-tops-italy-as-
world-s-healthiest-nation-while-u-s-slips. 

396　 	 “Population - Statistical Abstract of Israel 2019 - No.70 2.3 Population, by Population Group, 
Religion, Sex and Age,” The Central Bureau of Statistics, accessed October 22, 2019, 1-2, 
https://www.cbs.gov.il/he/publications/doclib/2019/2.shnatonpopulation/st02_03.pdf; “Projection 
of Population in Israel for 2020-2065, by Population Group, Sex and Age,” The Central Bureau of 
Statistics, 4, accessed October 29, 2019, https://www.cbs.gov.il/he/publications/doclib/2019/2.
shnatonpopulation/st02_10.pdf.

397	 以色列只提供2008年全年的平均人口年齡中位數。資料來源：“Population - Statistical Abstract 
of Israel 2009 - No.60 Subject 2 – Table No. 10,” The Central Bureau of Statistics, accessed 
October 23, 2019, https://old.cbs.gov.il/reader/shnaton/templ_shnaton_e.html?num_tab= 
st02_10x&CYear=2009; “Population - Statistical Abstract of Israel 2019- No.70 Subject 2 – Table 
No. 5,” The Central Bureau of Statistics, accessed October 23, 2019, https://www.cbs.gov.il/he/
publications/doclib/2019/2.shnatonpopulation/st02_05x.pdf.

398　 	 The Central Bureau of Statistics, “Israel in Figures - Selected Data from the Statistical Abstract of 
Israel 2019” (2020), 7. 

399 男性於全球排名為第10，女性於全球排名則為第16。資料來源：“Life expectancy at birth, 
male(years),” The World Bank, accessed October 8, 2019, https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/
SP.DYN.LE00.MA.IN; “Life expectancy at birth, female(years),” The World Bank, accessed  
October 8, 2019, https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.DYN.LE00.FE.IN.

400　 	 “Israel National Health Interview Survey INHIS-3 2013-2015 Selected Findings,” Israel Center for 
Disease Control, Ministry of Health, accessed October 23, 2019, 22, https://www.health.gov.il/
publicationsfiles/inhis_3.pdf. 
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療服務更為連貫，並借此建立數據庫，為制訂公共衞生政策建立數據基礎。簡

而言之，以色列當局的積極介入及善用電子科技，透過數據分析，有望減低醫

療成本，增加治療效益，是其基層醫療健康制度成功的重要因素。

22. 反觀香港，電子健康紀錄系統由政府推動，但部分年齡組別及醫護人

員的參與情況仍未如理想，反映政府由上而下的推動未能有效動員各界。有見

地區康健中心將在全港各區成立，若地區康健中心能採取更主動、互動具針對

性的推廣策略促進市民及醫護人員登記加入，一如以色列的保建基金組織，走

入社區從下而上連繫各界，相信有助提高醫健通的覆蓋率。
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形式，與家庭醫生簽約的同時，選擇一所市級醫院和區級醫院，繼而完善雙向

轉診制度。458 簽約服務在服務範疇與轉介制度下提供誘因，從而引導居民先

使用基層醫療服務。

10. 另外，簽約服務亦旨在推廣個人化的預防護理服務。在江蘇及廣西，

居民可選擇兩類簽約服務，「基礎包」主要包括基本衞生服務的項目，而「個

性包」則指「點單式」的簽約服務459，居民能與家庭醫生團隊制定個人化的服

務，讓服務內容更多樣化及切合個人所需。460

11. 在中西醫協作方面，除了將中醫服務融入基本衞生服務，當局亦致力

促進中西醫結合醫療。461 當中措施包括搭建中西醫結合研究平台，研發創新

治療方案；完善中西醫結合教育，以培訓人才；建立中西醫協作機制與模式、

發展中西醫結合醫院，借以提升兩者間的服務能力。462 在2018年，中國設有

650間中西醫結合醫院及8,389間中西醫結合診所。463

458　 	 中華人民共和國中央人民政府：《上海開展“1+1+1”簽約醫療服務試點》，2016年12月27日，
網址：http://www.gov.cn/xinwen/2016-12/27/content_5153507.htm [ 於2019年10月登入 ]。

459 中共江蘇省委新聞網：《全國首個“點單式”家庭醫生簽約服務在江蘇落地》，2018年5月19
日，網址：http://www.zgjssw.gov.cn/yaowen/201805/t20180519_5400328.shtml [ 於2019年11
月登入 ]。

460　  中華人民共和國中央人民政府：《廣西明確家庭醫生收費標準　基礎服務包每人每年15元》， 
2017年12月11日，網址：http://www.gov.cn/xinwen/2017-12/11/content_5245911.htm [ 於
2019年11月登入 ]。

461 中華人民共和國中央人民政府：《國務院關於印發中醫藥發展戰略綱要（2016-2030年）的
通知》，2016年2月22日，網址：http://big5.www.gov.cn/gate/big5/www.gov.cn/gongbao/
content/2016/content_5054716.htm [ 於2019年11月登入 ]。

462 中華人民共和國中央人民政府：《國務院關於印發中醫藥發展戰略綱要（2016-2030年）的
通知》，2016年2月22日，網址：http://big5.www.gov.cn/gate/big5/www.gov.cn/gongbao/
content/2016/content_5054716.htm；中華人民共和國中央人民政府：《中共中央國務
院關於促進中醫藥傳承創新發展的意見》，2019年10月26日，網址：http://www.gov.cn/
zhengce/2019-10/26/content_5445336.htm [ 於2019年11月登入 ]。

463 規劃發展與信息化司：《2018年我國衞生健康事業發展統計公報》，2019年5月22日，網
址：http://www.nhc.gov.cn/guihuaxxs/s10748/201905/9b8d52727cf346049de8acce25ffcbd0.
shtml [ 於2019年10月登入 ]。
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32. 有別於其他地區，中國內地的基層醫療亦強調中醫服務。誠然，中醫

「治未病」的理念與基層醫療的宗旨相輔相成，中西醫協作間更能取長補短，

為人民提供更全面的健康護理服務。本港一直希望發展中醫藥服務，近年中醫

醫院的興建項目便是一例。有鑑於中國內地中醫基層醫療服務甚為普及，以及

在中西醫結合的發展更成熟，本港可參考內地相關經驗，探討如何加強中醫在

基層醫療在預防護理及跨界協作方面的角色。

33. 中國內地亦銳意推廣家庭醫學，借簽約服務引導居民與家庭醫生建立

長期及持續的護理關係。透過此創新的簽約模式，居民可接受基本預防護理服

務之余，亦可得到家庭醫生及其團隊提供個人化服務，以至綜合及以人為本

的護理。此外，簽約服務亦會聯繫其他醫療與社區服務，如居民可選定一所醫

院，並透過家庭醫生的轉介，優先預約醫院專科服務。

34. 因此，以個人化服務及轉介作為誘因，簽約服務至今已吸引過五億人

參與，可見服務能鼓勵居民在社區就診，實現基層醫療作為首診、雙向轉診的

分級診療模式。在香港，市民對基層醫療及家庭醫生的概念仍較陌生，而且部

分人士亦有經常轉換醫生的習慣（doctor shopping）。香港政府除加強宣傳與

推廣，亦可參考家庭醫生簽約的服務模式，探討如何增加誘因，引導市民與家

庭醫生建立持續護理關係。長遠而言，讓每名市民均可有自己的家庭醫生。

35. 須注意，簽約服務或可有效推廣家庭醫生及基層醫療的理念，但推行相關

計劃的前提，需顧及家庭醫生的人手配套和服務質量，以應對「簽而難約」的問題。

36. 為了讓護理服務更可及，中國政府亦鼓勵醫療健康行業研發遠程醫療

服務。雖然本港人口密集且交通八達，遙距健康服務未必完全適用；但香港政

府亦可參考中國內地「互聯網+醫療健康」的經驗，探討何以善用資訊科技，

如電子健康紀錄及網上健康咨詢，使健康資訊更可及互通，借以提升市民健康

意識與管理能力。

37. 由此可見，中國內地的基層醫療服務近年越趨普及、全面及個人化，

當地政府亦致力改變國民的求醫行為及健康意識，從而逐漸體現政府、社會及

個人共同承擔健康責任的理念。
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服務壓力。當香港政府和社會各界對基層醫療愈漸重視，人人健康的期許指日

可俟。


